
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

March 7, 2022 

President Philip J. Hanlon 
Office of the President 
Dartmouth College 
207 Parkhurst Hall 
Hanover, New Hampshire 03755 

Sent via Electronic Mail (Philip.J.Hanlon@dartmouth.edu) 

Dear President Hanlon: 

FIRE1 appreciates that Dartmouth is reviewing its response to security arrangements 
concerning Andy Ngo’s speaking appearance at the invitation of the College Republicans and 
other student organizations.  

We remain concerned that Dartmouth’s decision to require the event to be conducted online, 
rather than in person as originally planned, was not justified by the potential security risks—
risks that ultimately did not materialize—posed by those opposed to Ngo’s appearance. 
Dartmouth’s unilateral decision, despite law enforcement’s efforts to ensure the event could 
proceed as planned, materially altered the venue and format of a student group’s event in 
violation of students’ expressive freedom. It also incentivizes similar threats to expressive 
activity in the future. 

Dartmouth’s administration, in response to online calls to disrupt the event, mobilized a large 
police presence,2 but later canceled the in-person event, claiming that “concerning 
information” from the Hanover Police Department late that afternoon necessitated the 
decision.3  

 
1 As you may recall from recent correspondence, the Foundation for Individual Rights in Education (FIRE) is 
a nonpartisan nonprofit dedicated to defending liberty, freedom of speech, due process, academic freedom, 
legal equality, and freedom of conscience on America’s college campuses.  
2 Dartmouth’s precautionary measures are explained in greater detail in FIRE’s January 26, 2022, letter. 
3 Jacob Strier & Arizbeth Rojas, Virtual anti-Antifa event hosted by College Republicans moved online due to 
safety, logistical issues, THE DARTMOUTH (Jan. 25, 2022), 
https://www.thedartmouth.com/article/2022/01/virtual-anti-antifa-event-hosted-by-college-republicans-
moved-online-due-to-safety-logistical-issues.  
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That assertion is difficult to square with the Hanover Police Department’s version of events, 
and with information contained in public records provided upon request from FIRE. 
According to Hanover police Chief Charles B. Dennis, his department “did not make a 
recommendation to Dartmouth College regarding the January 20th event.”4 Chief Dennis 
asserted that “[w]ith the information we had”—that is, the same information provided to 
Dartmouth—the Hanover Police Department was “operationally prepared as best we could to 
handle the event and protest.”5 The decision to cancel the in-person event was not on the 
advice of the Hanover police, and Dartmouth did not provide the police with “a reason or 
reasons for Dartmouth’s decision to transition to a virtual platform[.]”6  

Further, the records produced by the Hanover police document social media commentary 
that does not differ significantly from the posts leading up to January 20. Instead, those 
records suggest that the sum total of “information” provided by the police to Dartmouth on 
the afternoon of January 20 consists of social media posts that, while concerning, constitute 
messages that endorse—but do not threaten—violence against Ngo.7  

If these messages were interpreted by Dartmouth as threats, they were not reported as such 
to any of the law enforcement agencies reported to be involved in the Ngo appearance.8 
Moreover, the Hanover police records consist of information provided by Ngo himself.9  

Dartmouth’s handling of this matter creates a perverse incentive for speakers to refrain from 
sharing concerning messages, lest institutions like Dartmouth respond by taking action not 
against those making threats, but against the speaker. This is not the conduct of a university 
that, as your response claims, “prizes and defends the right to free speech.”10 A commitment 
to free speech requires institutions to “first make bona fide efforts to protect the speaker 
from the crowd’s hostility by other, less restrictive means . . .  before removing the speaker 
due to safety concerns.”11  

Instead, Dartmouth responded to the threatened disruption of a student-run event by 
enacting an improper “heckler’s veto”12 that acceded to the illiberal demands of Ngo’s 
ideological opponents. Effecting a heckler’s veto by “excluding a speaker . . .  under most 

 
4 Letter from Charles B. Dennis, Chief of the Hanover Police Department, to Sabrina Conza, FIRE Program 
Analyst (Feb. 16, 2022) (enclosed). 
5 Id. 
6 Id. 
7 See Records produced by Hanover Police Dep’t, enclosed, at 1-13. The balance of the records were generated 
before January 20, 2022. 
8 Cf. DARTMOUTH POLICE DEP’T., 2022 Monthly Police Log January 2022, at 27, 35, 38, 42 (Feb. 3, 2022), available 
at https://bit.ly/3vsnoN0 (reports at or near Dartmouth College designated as “threats”) with id. at 33-34 (all 
reports for Jan. 20, 2022, none of which were designated as “threats”). See also LEBANON POLICE DEP’T, Daily 
Police Log (Jan. 20, 2022), available at https://bit.ly/3K17u07 (no reports at or near Dartmouth College 
designated as “threats”); HANOVER POLICE DEP’T, Press log (Jan. 10–22, 2022) (on file with author) (no reports 
designated as “threats”); DARTMOUTH UNIV. DEP’T OF SAFETY AND SEC., Crime Log, (Jan. 3-23, 2022) (on file with 
author) (no reports designated as “threats”). 
9 See Records produced by Hanover Police Dep’t, supra note 7, at 2 (email forward from Ngo) and 4-13 (tweets 
from Ngo).  
10 Email from Philip. J. Hanlon to Conza (Jan. 28, 2022, 12:30 PM) (on file with author). 
11 Bible Believers v. Wayne Cnty., 805 F.3d 228, 255 (6th Cir. 2015). 
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circumstances, will not constitute the least restrictive means for coping with a crowd’s hostile 
reaction to her constitutionally protected speech.”12  

Sacrificing free speech rights when faced with actual violence is seldom justified; restricting 
expressive activity in the absence of substantial disruption is inexcusable. Far from 
protecting free speech, Dartmouth’s actions will only prompt future threats and will deter 
speakers from coming to campus—to the detriment of campus safety and students’ expressive 
freedoms. 

FIRE calls on Dartmouth to recommit to free speech by promising to make genuine, serious, 
and transparent efforts to protect students’ expressive rights when those rights are 
threatened by disruption. We request receipt of a response to this letter no later than the 
close of business on March 21, 2022. 

Sincerely, 

 
Zachary Greenberg 
Senior Program Officer, Individual Rights Defense Program 

Encl. 

 
12 Bible Believers, 805 F.3d at 255; see also Collins v. Jordan, 110 F.3d 1363, 1372 (9th Cir. 1996) (“The courts 
have held that	the proper response to potential and actual violence is for the government to ensure an 
adequate police presence and to arrest those who actually engage in such conduct, rather than to suppress 
legitimate	First Amendment	conduct as a prophylactic measure.”) (internal citation omitted). 
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